
A/CN.4/SR.2766

Summary record of the 2766th meeting

Extract from the Yearbook of the International Law Commission:-

2003

Document:-

vol. I,

Topic:
International liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by 

international law

Copyright © United Nations

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission 
(http://www.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm)



 2766th meeting—3 June 2003 �03

72. again, the commission might approach UneP for 
help in integrating the idea of shared responsibility and 
compensation in its future work. He wished to reiterate 
his encouragement to the special Rapporteur and trusted 
that his next report would contain some new ideas for the 
commission to consider.

73. Mr. MansFieLd said that the commission could 
and must deal with the topic within five years. the Work-
ing Group’s excellent work in 2002 had provided a solid 
basis for the special Rapporteur’s first report. it was pre-
cisely because of its earlier decisions on state responsi-
bility that the commission was having to deal with the 
topic at all. at present, in a situation where lawful activi-
ties caused catastrophic losses even though the state had 
fulfilled its duty of prevention, the relevant countries were 
under no obligation to do anything. the sixth committee 
and Governments were aware that that situation reflected 
a widening gap in international law. the commission did 
not need to complicate matters so much. it might have to 
develop general principles based on existing regimes, or 
its task might be far easier than that. all it had to do was 
stipulate that loss could not fall entirely on the innocent 
victim and that countries must at least get together to work 
out an effective remedy and allocate loss. Failure to do so 
would entail responsibility. He was confident that, with 
the special Rapporteur’s guidance, the commission could 
complete its work on the topic within five years.

74. Mr. Rosenstock recalled that the United nations 
conference on the Human environment had adopted a 
principle that was expected to provide a basis for legal 
responsibility in such matters.10 the principle had never 
been put into effect, however. the same would doubtless 
happen with the three instruments adopted at the Fifth 
Ministerial conference “environment for europe”.11 the 
commission was in danger of drafting yet another instru-
ment that might be supported by a handful of states but 
was unlikely to obtain universal acceptance.

75. Mr. sreenivasa Rao (special Rapporteur) expressed 
appreciation for members’ words of encouragement and 
pledged to continue his task, although its success was in 
the commission’s hands. With all due deference to Mr. 
Rosenstock’s vast experience, he felt that if the commis-
sion did only what it felt Member states would fully ac-
cept, it would end up doing nothing. it could not be faulted 
if countries failed to implement and recognize the articles 
it drafted. as long as it did its work as mandated by the 
sixth committee, it was up to states whether or not they 
applied the resulting instruments. even so, many courts 
used the various instruments developed by the commis-
sion as a basis for their judgements. the commission 

should not compromise, therefore, simply because states 
were reluctant to apply what it had developed.

The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m.

2766th MEETING

Tuesday, 3 June 2003, at 10.05 a.m.

Chair: Mr. enrique candioti

Present: Mr. addo, Mr. al-Baharna, Mr. Brownlie, 
Mr. chee, Mr. daoudi, Mr. dugard, Mr. economides, Ms. 
escarameia, Mr. Fomba, Mr. Gaja, Mr. Galicki, Mr. 
kabatsi, Mr. kateka, Mr. kolodkin, Mr. koskenniemi, 
Mr. Mansfield, Mr. Melescanu, Mr. Momtaz, Mr. opertti 
Badan, Mr. Pambou-tchivounda, Mr. sreenivasa Rao, 
Mr. Rodríguez cedeño, Mr. Rosenstock, Mr. Yamada.

International liability for injurious consequences aris- 
ing out of acts not prohibited by international law 
(international liability in case of loss from trans-
boundary harm arising out of hazardous activities) 
(continued) (A/CN.4/529, sect. D, A/CN.4/53��)

[agenda item 6]

First report oF the special rapporteur (continued)

1. Mr. RodRÍGUeZ cedeÑo, commenting on the 
concerns to which the topic had given rise in the com-
mission and in the sixth committee, said that, despite 
the doubts expressed and the problems involved, the 
topic could be the subject of codification and progressive 
development, and the commission should deal with it as 
such. the rules relating to liability arising out of activities 
resulting from technological advances were not clearly 
established in international law, although international in-
struments of a sectoral nature did embody rules on inter- 
national liability, prevention, civil liability, reparation and 
compensation, and important principles had been estab-
lished on strict liability, the allocation of loss, the limited 
liability of the owner or the operator and damage, not to 
mention the rules stated in the very recent Protocol on 
civil Liability and compensation for damage caused 
by the transboundary effects of industrial accidents on 
transboundary Waters. despite the gaps in international 
law and the national law of states with regard to the allo-

1 Reproduced in Yearbook … 2003, vol. ii (Part one).

10 see the declaration of the United nations conference on the 
Human environment, Report of the United Nations Conference on 
the Human Environment, Stockholm, 5–16 June 1972 (United nations 
publication, sales no. e.73.ii.a.14), Part one, chap. i.

11 the Protocol on strategic environmental assessment to the 
convention on environmental impact assessment in a transboundary 
context; the Protocol on civil Liability and compensation for dam-
age caused by the transboundary effects of industrial accidents on 
transboundary Waters; and the Protocol on Pollutant Release and 
transfer Registers to the convention on access to information, Public 
Participation in decision-making and access to Justice in environmental 
Matters.



�04 Summary records of the first part of the fifty-fifth session

cation of loss and the prompt, full and adequate compen-
sation of innocent victims, doctrine, practice and jurispru-
dence contained enough elements for the codification and 
progressive development of general principles governing 
allocation of loss and compensation. as had been stated 
in the sixth committee, that was also justified by the fact 
that the consideration of the topic was the logical exten-
sion of the commission’s work on prevention and state 
responsibility.

2. the possibility of formulating relevant rules of in-
ternational law applicable directly or indirectly to natural 
and legal persons had been considered on other occasions. 
in his view, the purpose of the commission’s work must 
be not only to encourage states to adopt national law rules 
allowing to some extent for the proper allocation of loss 
and the protection of innocent victims, but also to estab-
lish general principles on the basis of which to formulate 
rules applicable to states and operators. even though an 
overly “human rightist” approach should not be adopted, 
the main question was the protection of innocent victims 
from transboundary harm arising out of a hazardous ac-
tivity. on the basis of a minimum standard of equity, vic-
tims not benefiting from the activity must be excluded 
from the allocation of loss. although, as the special Rap-
porteur indicated in paragraphs 13 and 14 of his report 
(a/cn.4/531), the commission had already adopted “the 
principle that the victim of harm should not be left to bear 
the entire loss”, which meant that compensation did not 
necessarily have to be full and complete, everything must 
be done to ensure that the innocent victim was compen-
sated promptly and fully, subject to conditions and excep-
tions related, inter alia, to the measures he might have 
taken to mitigate loss.

3. the obligation to provide compensation for trans-
boundary harm arising out of a hazardous activity might 
give rise to liability on the part of the state when the latter 
had not adopted the necessary measures to prevent such 
harm. the liability might be shared, but in all cases it must 
lead to the prompt and full compensation of the innocent 
victim. the regime for allocation of loss and compensa-
tion might provide that the company engaging in the ac-
tivity in question had to compensate the victim and repair 
the environmental damage, even when no wrongful act 
had been committed. the liability of the state would be 
residual and would come into play when the victim had 
not been promptly, fully and completely compensated by 
the operator or the operator’s insurance.

4. there could be practically no question of an obliga-
tion to compensate for harm arising out of lawful but haz-
ardous activities carried out by a state which had fulfilled 
its obligations of prevention as a principle of customary 
international law, even if that principle could be derived 
from some of the instruments referred to in the report of 
the special Rapporteur. 

5. in order to formulate rules that would be acceptable 
to all, limits must be set, on the one hand, on scope, which 
must be hazardous activities or even ultrahazardous ac-
tivities exclusively, and, on the other, on the level of harm 
in question, whence the concept of “significant harm”. 
this concept was defined by the special Rapporteur in 
paragraphs 31, 33, 34 and 39 of his report, reflected the 

practice of states and was used in various international 
treaties.

6. another question warranting careful consideration 
was that of rules which were different from the rules of 
private international law and which guaranteed victims 
access to national courts. Victims must be able to apply 
indiscriminately, at their convenience, to the courts of the 
state where the activity had been carried out or to those 
of the state in whose territory the damage had occurred 
in order to obtain compensation. that was how the ruling 
of the european court of Justice in the Mines de Potasse 
d’Alsace case had interpreted article 5, paragraph 3, of the 
convention on Jurisdiction and the enforcement of Judg-
ments in civil and commercial Matters. 

7. the establishment of appropriate rules relating to al-
location of loss and compensation had a preventive effect 
because it encouraged companies to adopt more effective 
safety measures to prevent damage but did not hamper the 
activities they carried out with a view to the development 
of new technologies.

8. He generally agreed with the conclusions and pro-
posals the special Rapporteur submitted in paragraphs 
150 to 153 of the report. Paragraph 153, subpara- 
graph (c), stressed the need for harmony between the draft 
articles on prevention of transboundary harm from haz-
ardous activities adopted by the commission at its fifty-
third session, in 2001,2 and the draft articles on allocation 
of loss and compensation. that was logical and therefore 
acceptable. the same was true of the statement in para-
graph 153, subparagraph (d), concerning the liability of 
the state and that of the person in command and control of 
the activity, as well as the analysis of joint and several li-
ability. in paragraph 153, subparagraph (g), emphasis had 
rightly been placed on additional funding mechanisms, 
which must come primarily from the operators concerned, 
as provided in the convention on civil Liability for oil 
Pollution damage from offshore operations, referred to 
in paragraphs 66 and 67 of the report. Paragraph 153, sub-
paragraph (i), stressed that each state should ensure that 
domestic remedies were available in order to guarantee 
victims equitable and expeditious compensation. damage 
to the environment and to public areas in general, even 
if only to areas within the jurisdiction of a state, should 
also be taken into account. consideration should be given 
to the possibility of the rehabilitation of the environment 
and of natural resources that had been damaged or other 
similar formulations. the case of damage to the global 
commons must nevertheless not be ruled out completely, 
even though that question was not dealt with in the draft 
articles on prevention—something that had, incidentally, 
given rise to criticism by the sixth committee and by sev-
eral Governments. in any event, it was still too early to 
adopt a final position on the outcome of the commission’s 
work.

9. Mr. cHee said that the allocation of loss amounted 
to the allocation of damage to persons, property and the 
environment. as to the scope of the work to be undertaken 
by the special Rapporteur, he endorsed the position the 
special Rapporteur had adopted on the three criteria re-
lating to the definition of “transboundary damages” and 

2 Yearbook … 2001, vol. ii (Part two), para. 97.



 2766th meeting—3 June 2003 �05

the four recommendations made in paragraphs 37 and 38 
of the report. the definition of damage and compensa-
tion was a particularly important and difficult question in-
volving both economic loss and moral damage. as far as 
moral damage was concerned, reference might be made to 
the draft articles on state responsibility for internationally 
wrongful acts adopted by the commission at its fifty-third 
session.3

10. in chapter iii of the report (summation and submis-
sions for consideration), the special Rapporteur conclud-
ed that the models for liability and compensation schemes 
he had surveyed made it clear that “states have a duty to 
ensure that some arrangement exists to guarantee equi-
table allocation of loss”, but he was in favour of the idea 
expressed by the special Rapporteur in paragraph 153 of 
the report that the model of allocation of loss should be 
both “general and residuary in character”. He agreed with 
the argument put forward in paragraph 153, subparagraph 
(a), that the innocent victim should be given the possibil-
ity of obtaining compensation through civil liability and 
that the “polluter pays” principle available in the national 
law of many states should be applicable. He also agreed 
with the suggestions made in subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) 
and (e). subparagraph (f) referred to joint and several 
liability. in such a case, could liability be equitably ap-
portioned? that principle would be difficult to apply in 
practice. He therefore supported the proposal in the last 
sentence that the option of equitable apportionment could 
be left to states to decide in accordance with their national 
law and practice.

11. the idea stated in paragraph 153, subparagraph 
(g), that limited liability should be supplemented by ad-
ditional funding mechanisms was commendable, but dif-
ficult to realize: Would a state be willing to make an ad-
ditional contribution? However, he was entirely in favour 
of the idea stated in subparagraph (h) that a state should 
assume responsibility for designing suitable schemes to 
solve problems of transboundary harm. in that connec-
tion, he referred to principle 21 of the declaration of 
the United nations conference on the Human environ-
ment (stockholm declaration),4 which provided that 
“states have, in accordance with the charter of the United 
nations and the principles of environmental law, the sov-
ereign right to exploit their own resources pursuant to 
their own environmental policies and the responsibility to 
ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do 
not cause damage to the environment of other states or of 
areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction”. although 
the stockholm declaration was not legally binding, it was 
as much a source of law as the Universal declaration of 
Human Rights. the idea was reaffirmed in principle 13 
of the Rio declaration on environment and development 
(Rio declaration),5 which had in turn been confirmed by 
the World summit on sustainable development held in 
Johannesburg, south africa, from 26 august to 4 septem-
ber 2002. the principle that states had an obligation to 
ensure that transboundary air pollution did not cause any 

3 see 2751st meeting, footnote 3.
4 see 2765th meeting, footnote 10.
5 Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and 

Development, Rio de Janeiro, 3–14 June 1992 (United nations publica-
tion, sales no. e.93.i.8 and corrigenda), vol. i: Resolutions Adopted by 
the Conference, resolution 1, annex i.

harm to other states had also been affirmed in the Trail 
Smelter case and in the advisory opinion handed down by 
icJ in the Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weap-
ons case. those international instruments and decisions 
thus imposed an obligation on states to ensure that they 
did not cause any environmental harm to other states. 
that obligation could be characterized as being de lege 
lata. He therefore agreed with the special Rapporteur that 
states must take measures to prevent transboundary harm 
caused by atmospheric pollution.

12. With regard to paragraph 153, subparagraph (i), he 
pointed out that, if a state had an obligation under inter-
national law to prevent harm to persons, property and the 
environment, it would be logical that a state should also 
have a duty to introduce means of redress for injuries sus-
tained as a result of an internationally wrongful act of a 
state or the failure of a state to fulfil its international obli-
gations. in that connection, it should be noted that a denial 
of the right of an injured person to access to the courts 
to obtain redress for environmental harm arising out of 
transboundary air pollution would be contrary to article 8 
of the Universal declaration of Human Rights, which pro-
vided that every person had a right to an effective remedy 
by the competent national tribunals, and to article 3, which 
guaranteed everyone the right to life, liberty and security 
of person. the right of access to the national courts of 
the wrong-doing state should therefore be guaranteed to 
individuals seeking compensation for damage caused by 
transboundary atmospheric pollution. He asked what was 
meant by the term “evolving international standards”, as 
used in subparagraph (i). He also endorsed subparagraphs 
(j) and (k), which reflected current state practice.

13. as to the outcome of the commission’s work on lia-
bility, he agreed with the special Rapporteur that it should 
take the form of a protocol to the instrument on preven-
tion. in concluding, he recalled that the current work had 
been undertaken in accordance with a General assembly 
resolution and the provisions of the Rio declaration.

14. Mr. koLodkin said that the problem was complex 
because it affected the interests of persons, corporations 
and states, and those interests were certainly not always 
the same. Points of view on the question of liability for 
harm arising out of activities not prohibited by interna-
tional law continued to differ. in 1985 akehurst stated 
that there were few actual cases of liability for the con-
sequences of activities not prohibited by international 
law, and those cases were not related to the environment.6 
More recently, in 2001, in the monograph Liability and 
Environment,7 Bergkamp expressed doubt about the ap-
plicability of the concept of environmental liability.

15. states, groups of states and regions with different 
levels of development and hence different priorities could 
not view the concept of development in the same way, and 
that explained why the positions of states on that question 
differed. a great deal of rule-making activity was going 
on, particularly in europe.

6 see M. B. akehurst, “international liability for injurious conse-
quences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law”, Nether-
lands Yearbook of International Law, vol. 16 (1985), pp. 3–16.

7 see L. Bergkamp, Liability and Environment (the Hague, kluwer, 
2001).



�06 Summary records of the first part of the fifty-fifth session

16. But national legislation was not uniform. Within 
states, approaches could differ according to the types of 
activities in question. For example, in the Russian Fed-
eration, the 1999 air Protection act provided for liabil-
ity in the event of wrong-doing, whereas the 2001 Use 
of nuclear Power act provided for the no-fault liability 
of the operator in the event of loss or damage caused by 
radiation.

17. the report also contained an analysis of many sec-
toral agreements establishing different systems of liability 
and compensation. Because there were so many differ-
ent regimes, a regime of liability or at least civil liability 
for hazardous activities could not be formulated at the 
present time. there was the convention on civil Liabil-
ity for damage Resulting from activities dangerous to 
the environment, which not only had not yet entered into 
force, but was not all-embracing in nature. in particular, it 
did not apply to harm caused by nuclear substances or the 
transport of dangerous goods.

18. it was necessary to point out that treaties concluded 
in the 1990s on issues of responsibility were mostly not 
ratified by states.

19. the diversity of the approaches adopted by states 
was illustrated by the comments received from spain and 
the United kingdom. spain was very much in favour of 
the work being carried out and even considered the draft 
to be too restrictive, stating that it would be possible to 
develop a more ambitious treaty regime that would en-
compass liability for harm to the environment, as well 
as to areas beyond the territory of a state, whereas the 
United kingdom had reservations about the success of the 
commission’s work in that regard and the possibility of 
harmonizing the positions of states. the truth probably 
lay somewhere between the two.

20. despite their fragmentary nature, treaty regimes re-
flected certain trends and contained some common ele-
ments, as the special Rapporteur pointed out in his report. 
For example, they attached great importance to the “pol-
luter pays” principle, which emphasized the liability of 
the operator. 

21. in his own view, the framework of prevention that 
had been defined continued to be valid, and the commis-
sion should restrict the scope of the topic to the consid-
eration of the types of activities to which the articles on 
prevention applied and, for example, limit the threshold 
for the implementation of the articles on compensation. 
in other words, the harm in question must be significant, 
since it was caused by an activity not prohibited by inter-
national law. He also agreed with the comment that the 
regime the commission was proposing should not relate 
to activities under special regimes, which were governed 
by lex specialis and should be of a general nature.

22. He was of the opinion that, at the current stage, the 
commission’s work should not relate to harm originating 
beyond the limits of the territorial jurisdiction of states. 
there was a great deal of vagueness in that regard. Who, 
for example, could be regarded as an innocent victim 
if reference was being made to the idea of the common 
heritage of mankind? Who would determine the extent 

of damage? Who would be the subject of the request for 
compensation?

23. With regard to allocation of loss, the commission 
should focus on a single model. one could argue about 
the relationship between absolute and objective liability 
or cases genuinely involving liability for injurious conse-
quences arising out of activities not prohibited by interna-
tional law, as opposed to responsibility for acts contrary 
to international law. there was nevertheless a consensus 
on certain fundamental principles, which were stated in 
paragraphs 43 to 45 of the report and which might serve 
as a basis for the commission’s work.

24. the special Rapporteur’s approach, which was to 
avoid the question of the form of liability and to deal di-
rectly with a regime of allocation of loss, was not very 
clear. if such a regime was based directly on the “polluter 
pays” principle and the purpose was to provide compensa-
tion for loss from harm arising out of activities not pro-
hibited by international law, what was the legitimate basis 
for the residual liability of the state that was intended to 
compensate for loss not assumed by the polluter, namely 
the operator? if the state was not the polluter and had not 
broken any rule, why should it pay? the state’s obliga-
tion to earmark funds for that purpose, as provided for in 
paragraph 153, subparagraph (h), of the report, would be 
an acceptable solution, as long as the basis for that obliga-
tion was known. if the state had to assume that residual 
liability, it must also be asked whether it must do so in 
every case or only in certain specific situations.

25. since the special Rapporteur proposed, in paragraph 
153, subparagraph (g), that limited liability should be 
supplemented by additional funding mechanisms, should 
it be assumed that the liability of the state must always be 
limited? if so, on the basis of which criteria? He himself 
believed that liability was limited in the case of objective 
liability, and that was reasonable because the purpose was 
to compensate for harm arising out of an activity that was 
not unlawful.

26. in the case of liability of the guilty party, a reason-
able question was whether the harm must be compensated 
in full. For example, the Protocol on civil Liability and 
compensation for damage caused by the transboundary 
effects of industrial accidents on transboundary Waters 
did not make the limitation of compensation provided for 
in the event of objective liability applicable to the case 
of liability for the operator’s fault. it must then be asked 
whether the residual liability of the state was justified in 
the event of the operator’s liability. all in all, his view was 
that the system of allocation of loss caused by activities 
not prohibited by international law was closely linked to 
the forms of liability.

27. He shared the special Rapporteur’s view that liabil-
ity must be attributed not to the operator but to the person 
who was most in command and control of the activity at 
the time when the harm had occurred, but it was possible 
to define the operator as the person who had exercised 
such control, thereby solving the problem. He also sup-
ported the special Rapporteur’s proposal that the com-
mission should encourage states to conclude international 
agreements and provide in their national legal systems for 
intervention and compensation. it was to be expected that 



 2766th meeting—3 June 2003 �07

the part of the thesis relating to encouragement of states 
to make agreements would be further developed. in this 
respect the provisions of articles 21 and 22 of the draft ar-
ticles prepared by the Working Group of the commission 
at its forty-eighth session, in 1996, and the commentaries 
thereto were of great importance.8

28. He also considered that damage to the environment 
as such could not give rise to compensation, as indicated 
in the first sentence of paragraph 153, subparagraph (k), 
but the idea the special Rapporteur had put forward in the 
second sentence, namely, that “loss of profits and tourism 
on account of environmental damage are not likely to get 
compensated”, should be given more thought because it 
did not relate directly to the question of damage to the 
environment per se and because it had not been backed up 
by any argument in the report.

29. the commission must continue its work on the 
topic, but it was too early to decide what form the final 
product of its work should take.

30. Mr. MeLescanU said that the topic was a difficult 
one because the practice of states in respect of liability 
was nearly nonexistent and the conventions adopted re-
lated to very specific types of activities, and because the 
different theoretical and doctrinal approaches to the ques-
tion went from the outright denial that the topic existed 
to recognition of the existence of objective liability based 
on risk. He personally considered that the commission 
should formulate rules, without which the regime of inter- 
national liability would be incomplete. that was all the 
more important because in the future there would prob-
ably be more transboundary harm arising out of activities 
not prohibited by international law than harm arising out 
of activities that could be characterized as conventional.

31. the question dealt with in the report was linked to 
the work the commission had already done on the preven-
tion of transboundary harm. there was a relationship be-
tween prevention and the allocation of loss from hazard-
ous activities. the commission must therefore carefully 
consider that relationship, which was the basis for com-
pensation, because it might otherwise end up in a grey 
area that involved social welfare, not law. the problem 
was that of the liability of the state in a situation where 
harm, and particularly transboundary harm, occurred de-
spite its diligence and the adoption of measures of pre-
vention in accordance with its international obligations. 
the commission must thus consider the question whether 
the objective liability of the state for risk actually existed 
in public international law. if so, such liability would be 
exceptional because it would be based not on a wrongful 
act but on a principle of solidarity or of the protection of 
innocent persons, however controversial such a concept 
might be. 

32. the approach which the commission had adopted 
and which was pragmatic in the sense that it was intended 
to dissociate the question of objective liability from that 
of the allocation of loss would have to be provisional be-
cause of the problem of drafting a regime that was gener-
ally acceptable to all members.

8 Yearbook … 1996, vol. ii (Part two), annex i, pp. 143–146.

33. the second question that the commission had to 
consider related to the link between national regimes and 
treaty provisions on liability for risk and international law. 
a comparative study of national legislation showed that in 
civil-law countries the existence of objective liability was 
recognized, as in the case of the liability of building own-
ers for damage caused by their property. in most of those 
countries, such provisions of the civil code, which came 
from Roman law, were regarded as the basis for objective 
liability for damage caused by the operators of nuclear 
power stations or by polluters, and in many of those coun-
tries no-fault liability had even been made applicable to 
administrative law. a study of international conventions 
on transboundary harm showed that they covered a vari-
ety of fields, such as damage resulting from oil pollution 
or the transport of dangerous substances, the disposal of 
hazardous wastes and the exploitation and exploration of 
outer space. in view of that diversity, the commission’s 
task was not so much to find a common denominator in 
such practice in order to codify it, but to establish general 
principles which could be applied and would serve as a 
model that states could follow, since in many cases na-
tional legislation was not enough to cover transboundary 
harm. in that connection, he believed that allocation of 
loss should be based not on a particular idea of the protec-
tion of human rights, as Mr. koskenniemi had suggested, 
but on the idea of liability for risk, which was recognized 
in many civil-law countries. those principles, which must 
be of a general and residual nature, as the special Rap-
porteur had stressed, were already outlined in paragraph 
153, subparagraphs (b) to (h) and (k), of the report. as to 
the idea referred to in paragraph 153, subparagraph (g), 
of supplementing limited liability by additional funding 
mechanisms, he was of the opinion that liability must be 
limited to a certain amount, because otherwise the burden 
to be borne by operators and states might be undefined 
and might hamper economic activities that were very 
important for the countries concerned. 

34. to these principles which he approved of, he pro-
posed to add others. First, the relevant regulations should 
take into account the double imperative of protecting in-
nocent victims while not creating overly heavy burdens 
for operators. one should also establish the principle, 
mentioned by the special Rapporteur in paragraph 44 of 
his report, according to which full restitution might not be 
possible in every case. this idea, which might be covered 
by a special rule, could also be combined with that of a 
minimum threshold, namely that of significant damage, 
and a maximum threshold such as was provided for in in-
surance contracts and in the complementary compensa-
tion regimes of states.

35. the commission could also explicitly recommend 
that operators take out insurance to cover the risks. in 
reality, such insurance should be obligatory for risky ac-
tivities that might cause transboundary damage. other-
wise it would in practice be difficult to ask operators to 
be responsible for such accidents. the establishment of 
a regime covering damages was absolutely necessary in 
order to enable insurance companies to set a ceiling for 
damages, for, if responsibility was not capped, one could 
not require operators to enter into insurance contracts, 
since the damages caused by accidents such as that in 
chernobyl were not really insurable.



�08 Summary records of the first part of the fifty-fifth session

36. With regard to the scope of the topic, he agreed 
with the special Rapporteur that the principles and rules 
to be established should be linked to the draft articles on 
prevention, since the two questions were related. He was 
also in favour of the idea of establishing a drafting group 
to start formulating general and residual rules on alloca-
tion of loss in case of transboundary harm arising out of 
hazardous activities, based on the recommendations con-
tained in paragraph 153 of the report.

37. Mr. koskennieMi said that he was concerned 
about the approach to the topic. at earlier meetings, he 
had taken the side of the victims of harm and suggested 
that rules or principles should be drafted from the view-
point of those victims. Mr. Melescanu had probably been 
right to say that such an approach was not balanced, since 
the commission had to find a happy medium between 
protecting the interests of victims and carrying out ac-
tivities for the benefit of society as a whole, but it was 
specifically that idea of balance that should be called 
into question, because it could lead only to a dead end in 
terms of codification, since a balance between differing 
interests could not be struck without taking account of cir-
cumstances. since circumstances could not be known in 
advance, such an approach amounted to remaining silent. 
a rule that only referred to “balancing of interests” in 
fact transferred decision-making powers to those interests 
that were well represented in the institutions whose task 
such “balancing” was. in fact, the victim’s standpoint was 
rarely represented in the relevant public or private institu-
tions. a “balancing” rule would, in fact, work in favour 
of powerful commercial or industrial interests. Here the 
commission was called upon to take a stand, and he sug-
gested that such a stand should openly favour the interests 
of victims.

38. Mr. MoMtaZ said that he sympathized with the 
special Rapporteur, who had, in a way, been a victim of 
his own intellectual honesty because he had openly recog-
nized—for example, in paragraphs 2 and 3 of his report—
that global and comprehensive liability regimes had failed 
to attract states, that the attempt to gain compensation for 
damage through the instrumentality of civil wrongs or the 
tort law of liability had its limitations, that state liability 
and strict liability were not widely supported at the inter-
national level, that case law on the subject was scant and 
that the role of customary international law in this respect 
was equally modest. those statements, which explained 
why the commission had not made any further progress, 
must not in any way serve as arguments for abandoning 
the topic. at most, it could be concluded that the task en-
trusted to the special Rapporteur was very difficult and 
sensitive and that a great deal of ingenuity would be re-
quired. the excellent survey in the report of what were, 
of course, sectoral and regional treaties prepared thus far 
by states clearly showed that the international community 
was concerned about the need not to abandon the innocent 
victims of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous 
activities to their fate.

39. it had rightly been maintained that such harm was 
often the result of the fact that the state on whose territory 
the incident had occurred had not fulfilled its obligation 
of prevention. in such a case, harm would be compensated 
on the basis of the draft articles on state responsibility for 
internationally wrongful acts adopted by the commission 

at its fifty-third session. it was now well established that 
the implementation of the best methods of prevention did 
not rule out the risk of accidents, and that harm could be 
caused even in the absence of breaches of international ob-
ligations. it would be interesting to consider the extent to 
which that could apply to the ecological disasters that had 
taken place in different parts of the world in recent years.

40. in any event, there was no doubt about the relevance 
and feasibility of the topic and the special Rapporteur’s 
competence. the study was based on the assumption that 
the state in whose territory the harm had occurred had 
fulfilled its obligation of prevention. in such a case, the 
operator must be primarily liable and the state might have 
residual liability, but in both cases such liability could 
only be limited. Most of the treaty regimes that had been 
drafted to date were based on the civil liability of the op-
erator and the “polluter pays” principle, which could be 
regarded as a general principle of international law. it was 
obvious that, where several operators were involved, joint 
and several liability could always be claimed.

41. When the operator could not be identified or was 
not solvent, the basis for the residual liability of the state 
concerned might be the principle that states were respon-
sible for the activities carried out in their territory. states 
would then be entitled to require multinationals which 
carried out hazardous activities in their territory to in-
form them of the risks that such activities might involve. 
states whose national enterprises carried out such activi-
ties abroad should, in turn, ensure that such operations 
were carried out in accordance with international safety 
standards. that approach was entirely in keeping with the 
principle of the equitable allocation of loss among sub-
jects of law which, in one way or another, benefited from 
the activities in question. the result would probably be 
that such activities would be more closely supervised and 
the risks would be reduced accordingly. a solution based 
on solidarity, which would draw inspiration from the ap-
proach of the law of cooperation, not that of coexistence, 
might lead more easily to a result. the question would 
thus be one of establishing a kind of collective insurance 
for innocent victims, something which the special Rap-
porteur described as “joint and several liability”.

42. in any event, such liability could not be absolute, 
and harm would have to reach a given threshold in order 
to bring it into play. in that connection, the threshold of 
“significant harm” proposed by the special Rapporteur 
was entirely acceptable and would cover environmental 
damage in the case where tourist activities were the key 
sector of a country’s economy and the damage seriously 
disrupted a tourist season.

43. there should be a savings clause which would rule 
out harm resulting from armed conflict and natural dis-
asters.

44. it would be better to wait and see how the work on 
the topic progressed before taking a decision on the form 
the study should take.

45. Mr. daoUdi, thanking the special Rapporteur and 
congratulating him on his first report, which was clear 
and complete, said that it was too late to question whether 
the topic under consideration could be codified, since the 



 2766th meeting—3 June 2003 �09

proposal the commission had made in 20029 had been 
endorsed by the sixth committee and by the General 
assembly.10

46. He agreed with the criticism levelled by some 
members concerning the restrictive criteria which had 
been used by the preceding special Rapporteurs to de-
fine transboundary harm, and which ruled out harm to 
the global commons. He did, however, support the rec-
ommendation the special Rapporteur had made in para- 
graph 39 of his report for the endorsement of the com-
mission’s decision to designate “significant harm” as the 
threshold for the obligation of compensation to come 
into play. But he pointed out that, as was recalled in para- 
graph 31 of the report, the way that term had been defined 
by the Working Group in 199611 might cause disputes 
among states and give the courts broad powers of interpre-
tation. the terms used to translate that idea, particularly in 
arabic, must be given careful attention.

47. in paragraph 46 of his report, the special Rappor-
teur noted that states had attempted to settle the issue of 
allocation of loss in most recently concluded treaties by 
relying on civil liability. in part ii of his report, he gave 
a detailed description of the regime which had been es-
tablished by various international conventions and which 
varied according to the type of activities in question. de-
pending on whether such activities were stationary or 
mobile, the person responsible could be the operator or 
the owner or the generator, the importer or the disposer. 
in some cases, the “polluter pays” principle was applied, 
while, in others, it was not. some conventions provided 
for the establishment of an additional compensation fund, 
while others did not. of all the conventions referred to 
by the special Rapporteur, only the convention on inter-
national Liability for damage caused by space objects 
referred to state liability and civil liability. in paragraphs 
114 to 121 of his report, the special Rapporteur neverthe-
less tried to describe the common features of civil liability. 
the problem was how to turn those features into rules of 
international law, and it was not at all certain that codifi-
cation was the right method; the progressive development 
of international law in that field was essential.

48. He was very impressed by Mr. Melescanu’s proposal 
that a body of principles should be drawn up to serve as 
guidelines for the practice of states. He nevertheless won-
dered whether such principles, apart from the “polluter 
pays” principle, were in fact general principles of interna-
tional law recognized by civilized nations, in accordance 
with article 38 of the statute of the international court of 
Justice. that was the crux of the problem, but the special 
Rapporteur would undoubtedly be able to deal with it. 

49. He endorsed the arguments the special Rapporteur 
put forward in paragraph 153 of his report concerning the 
formulation of a model of the allocation of loss. He point-
ed out that environmental damage, as mentioned in para-
graph 153, subparagraph (j), was extremely difficult to 
quantify, and he suggested that reference should be made 
to the work being done by the United nations compensa-
tion commission (iraq-kuwait).

9 Yearbook … 2002, vol. ii (Part two), p. 100, para. 517.
10 see 2763rd meeting, footnote 3.
11 Yearbook … 1996, vol. ii (Part two), annex i, p. 119 (paras. 4 and 

5 of the commentary to art. 2).

50. Mr. kaBatsi said that the topic had been under 
discussion by the commission for a quarter of a century 
and had already been the subject of 21 reports prepared 
by three different special rapporteurs, as well as several 
reports by working groups. its original title had been in-
ternally contradictory and had been bound to give rise to 
problems because its purpose had been to promote the 
construction of regulatory regimes without resort to pro-
hibition activities regarded as entailing actual or potential 
dangers of a substantial nature and having transnational 
effects. the topic was less easy to codify or progressively 
develop than that of harm arising out of wrongful acts un-
der international law or internal law. the topic had nev-
ertheless continued to attract interest in the commission 
and among the majority of states in the General assembly 
because, as was only fair and logical, the innocent vic-
tims of activities from which some persons nearly always 
benefited must not be left without compensation. that 
was why the topic could not been abandoned and progress 
had been made in studying it. in 2001, the commission 
had thus completed a set of draft articles on the preven-
tion of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous ac-
tivities.12 that progressive step had to be pursued by navi-
gating through narrow straits between the provisions on 
state responsibility and those on special treaty regimes, 
at the international level, and between civil liability and 
various local arrangements at the internal level. those 
narrow straits could be only the general and residual 
rules advocated by the special Rapporteur, who had also 
rightly advocated that the threshold of seriousness of harm 
should be the same as that adopted in respect of preven-
tion—in other words, the regime to be drafted must be 
limited to significant harm. With regard to the continua-
tion of the commission’s work on the topic, the proposals 
made by the special Rapporteur in paragraphs 152 and 
153 of his report were a step in the right direction, and 
it would therefore be appropriate to establish a working 
group which would, under the chairship of the special 
Rapporteur, continue to discuss and refine the general and 
residual rules in question, bearing in mind that whatever 
regime might be established should be without prejudice 
to claims under international law and, in particular, the 
law of state responsibility.

51. Mr. aL-BaHaRna, reviewing the history of the 
topic of international liability for injurious consequences 
arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, said 
that the commission had decided at its twenty-second ses-
sion, in 1970, to confine the study of international respon-
sibility to the consequences of wrongful acts of states.13 
that decision had led the General assembly to declare 
in 1973 that it was also desirable to consider the injuri-
ous consequences of activities which were not regarded as 
unlawful.14 the commission had then decided in 1997 to 
divide the topic into two parts, one on prevention and the 
other on liability.15 the commission had thus established 
a working group in that year and had requested the present 
special Rapporteur to begin the study of the first part of 

12 see footnote 2 above.
13 Yearbook … 1970, vol. ii, document a/8010/Rev.1, p. 331, 

para. 66.
14 General assembly resolution 3071 (XXViii) of 30 november 

1973, para. 3 (c). 
15 Yearbook … 1997, vol. ii (Part two), p. 59, paras. 165 and 

168 (a).



��0 Summary records of the first part of the fifty-fifth session

the topic.16 in 2001, the commission had adopted the 
final text of the 19 draft articles on prevention proposed 
by the special Rapporteur. in 2002, a new working group 
had begun studying the second part of the topic on liability 
and had submitted a report in which it had recommended 
that the scope of liability should continue to be restricted 
to the activities dealt with in the part on prevention. the 
Working Group had reaffirmed the importance of the role 
of the state and its obligation to ensure that there were 
regimes of international and national liability to guarantee 
equitable loss allocation.17 in his first report on the legal 
regime of allocation of loss in case of transboundary harm 
arising out of hazardous activities, the special Rapporteur 
adopted many of the Working Group’s recommendations, 
such as those relating to the duties of the state and the 
need to ensure that the legal regime to be recommended 
was without prejudice to the law of state responsibility.

52. in part ii of his report, the special Rapporteur re-
ferred to a set of international instruments and sectoral 
and regional arrangements constituting models of alloca-
tion of loss. states had concluded a number of conven-
tions and other international instruments which covered a 
wide range of environmental aspects and dealt generally 
with international liability arising out of transboundary 
harm caused by various types of activities, including nu-
clear and space activities, activities in antarctica, and the 
transport of hydrocarbons and noxious and hazardous sub-
stances. He also referred to principle 13 of the Rio decla-
ration calling on states to develop national law regarding 
liability and compensation for the victims of pollution and 
other environmental damage and to cooperate to develop 
further international law regarding liability and compen-
sation.18 He himself did not dispute the judgement by the 
special Rapporteur in paragraph 114 of his report, but the 
list of instruments was not exhaustive. the commission 
should give those instruments further consideration, pref-
erably on the basis of a separate list which would serve 
as a reference, in order to come up with some common 
principles and factors that could constitute a legal regime 
on allocation of loss.

53. the summations and submissions contained in part 
iii of the report showed that the purpose of the study of 
the topic should be to draft rules governing the allocation 
of loss that transboundary harm might have caused de-
spite prevention efforts or when prevention had not been 
possible. such loss should be allocated between the op-
erator and those who authorized, managed or benefited 
from the activity, in accordance with the “polluter pays” 
principle. those rules should be designed to ensure that 
innocent victims, whether natural or legal persons or 
states, were not left to bear the loss caused by transbound-
ary harm. the principle that the innocent victim should be 
protected was no doubt generally acceptable, but, as the 
special Rapporteur pointed out in paragraph 44 of his re-
port, full compensation might not be possible in all cases. 
the regime to be established should therefore be designed 
to encourage all parties concerned to take preventive and 
protective measures in order to avoid damage. there were, 
of course, states which were unwilling to accept any form 

16 Ibid., paras. 162 and 168 (a).
17 Yearbook … 2002, vol. ii (Part two), p. 91, paras. 447 and 455.
18 see footnote 5 above.

of liability not arising out of the breach of an obligation 
under internal law or international law. However, the treat-
ment of the subject from the viewpoint of the allocation 
of loss between the different players, including the state, 
might be a generally accepted solution to the problem of 
liability not involving a wrongful act.

54. With regard to the respective roles of the state and 
the operator, it was the operator, whether private or public, 
which must assume primary liability, but, in order to facil-
itate the compensation of innocent victims, loss should be 
shared by the different players responsible for the trans-
boundary harm through the establishment of special com-
pensation or insurance schemes. if harm in any way gave 
rise to the liability of the state, such liability could only 
be secondary or residual in relation to that of the operator, 
unless the state itself was the main operator of the activ-
ity. the residual liability of the state could, for example, 
be the result of its function of monitoring the activity or of 
the fact that the private operator concerned could not fully 
compensate the victims. in such a case, the state could as-
sume that liability by contributing to a compensation fund 
or an insurance scheme.

55. the criterion of significant harm adopted in the draft 
articles on prevention should be used as the threshold of 
harm as of which the regime of allocation of loss would 
apply. “Ultrahazardous” activities, such as nuclear activi-
ties and the transport of oil, might require a more restric-
tive criterion, but for the time being there did not have to 
be a separate regime for those activities, which were in 
any event covered by their own sectoral regimes.

Organization of work of the session (continued)*

[agenda item 2]

56. Mr. kateka (chair of the drafting committee) 
announced that Mr. economides would replace Mr. Baena 
soares on the drafting committee for the topic of the re-
sponsibility of international organizations. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m.

2767th MEETING

Wednesday, 4 June 2003, at 10.05 a.m.

Chair: Mr. enrique candioti

Present: Mr. addo, Mr. al-Baharna, Mr. Brownlie, 
Mr. chee, Mr. daoudi, Mr. dugard, Mr. economides, 
Ms. escarameia, Mr. Fomba, Mr. Gaja, Mr. Galicki, Mr. 
kabatsi, Mr. kateka, Mr. kolodkin, Mr. koskenniemi, 

* Resumed from the 2764th meeting.


	rpt_cover_page_english_master.pdf
	rpt_cover_page_english_master


